RECEIVED

01-13-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP002178-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MARIE A. EZELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court, Winnebago County, the Honorable Daniel J. Bissett, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081378

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8384 breedlovet@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Were Ms. Ezell's Fifth Amendment rights violated when, after arriving as a visitor at the prison, prison officers, and later a police officer, escorted her to a room inside the prison, confronted her with evidence against her, questioned her and obtained a confession from her, without first informing her of her *Miranda*¹ rights?

The trial court answered "no."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is unwarranted because the issues can be decided by applying established legal principles to the facts of this case. Ms. Ezell anticipates that the issues will be fully presented in the briefs, but would welcome oral argument if the court would find it helpful to resolving the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 15, 2012, the state filed a complaint charging Marie A. Ezell with one count of possession of THC with intent to deliver, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m)(h)1, and one count of delivery of illegal articles to an inmate, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 302.095(2). (2). An information charging the same counts was filed on October 25, 2012. (5). Ms. Ezell filed a suppression motion on January 16, 2013. (12). The court held hearings on the motion on January 24, 2013, January 25, 2013, and April 8,

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

2013. (32; 33; 34). The court denied the suppression motion in part. (34:4-11; App. 104-11). On May 23, 2013, Marie A. Ezell entered no contest pleas to both charges, the Honorable Daniel J. Bissett presiding. (35:2-6). The court withheld sentence and imposed 30 months of probation for each count and ordered that Ms. Ezell serve 45 days of condition time for each count, to be served consecutively. (25; App. 101-03; 35:14-15). Ms. Ezell's condition time was stayed pending appeal. (35:15-16).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In October 2012, Oshkosh Correctional Institution (OCI) Lieutenant Eric Norman listened to three phones calls OCI inmate Chaz Moseby made to Ms. Ezell. (16:21). During one of the calls, Ms. Ezell said she would bring Mr. Moseby "six outfits and two bullshit" when she visited him on October 13, 2012. (16:21). Lieutenant Norman suspected these were code words and that Ms. Ezell intended to smuggle contraband into OCI. (16:21).

On October 13, 2012, Marie Ezell arrived at OCI with her mother and another individual. (33:4-5). A prison officer notified the Oshkosh Police Department upon her arrival. (32:4-5; 33:8). Lieutenant Eric Norman and another DOC supervising officer, Lieutenant Kuster, approached Ms. Ezell after she arrived at OCI, while she was in the lobby, which is open to the public. (33:5). Both Lieutenants were wearing standard DOC uniforms with white shirts, indicating the high rank of Lieutenant. (33:13, 17). On the left breast pocket of a Lieutenant's uniform is a badge that has the individual's name and is marked "Wisconsin Department of Corrections." (33:20). The uniform also has a patch on the left shoulder marked "Wisconsin Department of Corrections." (33:20). Both Lieutenants were also wearing tactical belts with a silver

badge visible on the front of the belt, and handcuffs in a pouch also visible on the belt. (33:13-14).

Upon approaching Ms. Ezell, Lieutenant Norman asked her, "Ma'am, would you come and talk with us?" (33:5). Ms. Ezell then began handing her personal items to her companions. (33:6). At this point, Lieutenant Norman told her she could keep her things and then led her through the prison door, separating her from her companions. (33:6). Neither Lieutenant told Ms. Ezell or her companions where they were taking Ms. Ezell before escorting her away. (33: 6, 11).

Lieutenant Norman, Lieutenant Kuster, and another correctional officer, also dressed in uniform, Jennifer Todd, walked Ms. Ezell through a locked lobby door to a separate, private room. (33:6-7, 17). In order for the four to move through the door, a fourth correctional officer had to remotely unlock the door. (33:6). The door buzzed when it unlocked and then it closed behind them with an audible click. (33:19). After passing through the locked door, the two Lieutenants and Officer Todd escorted Ms. Ezell down the hall to an interior, windowless, room. (32:15; 33:14). The Lieutenants and Officer Todd closed the door after Ms. Ezell entered the room. (32:6; 33:16). Lieutenant Norman then told Ms. Ezell to have a seat. (33:14).

After moving into the room, Lieutenant Norman sat down with Ms. Ezell but Lieutenant Kuster and Officer Todd remained standing. (33:15). The officers then began questioning Ms. Ezell. (33:7-9). Lieutenant Norman identified himself, Lieutenant Kuster and Officer Todd by name and rank. (33:7). Norman then told Ms. Ezell he had been monitoring prison phone calls between Ms. Ezell and inmate Moseby for some time, and knew that she had contraband

with her to bring to Mr. Moseby. (33:7). Ms. Ezell denied having contraband. (33:8). Lieutenant Norman confronted her again, saying he knew she had something with her. (33:8). Lieutenant Norman told Ms. Ezell that he had contacted the Oshkosh Police Department and police officers were on their way to OCI. (33:8-9, 15). Lieutenant Kuster told Ms. Ezell that with her mother and other companion being at OCI, it would be easier for everyone if she was just honest and cooperated. (33:8, 16). Ms. Ezell then admitted to having balloons of K2² with her. (33:8, 16).

Lieutenant Norman asked Ms. Ezell where the K2 was located, and Ms. Ezell indicated that it was inside her. (16:21). Lieutenant Norman continued to question Ms. Ezell asking about the words she had used on the phone to identify the drugs. (16:21). Ms. Ezell told him the "outfits" referred to pouches of marijuana and "bullshit" referred to pouches of K2. (16:21). Ms. Ezell also admitted that she had brought contraband into OCI on two prior occasions. (33:9-10). None of the officers read Ms. Ezell her *Miranda* warnings at any point during the questioning. (33:21).

Oshkosh Police Officer Mark Lehman responded to the call from OCI regarding Ms. Ezell. Lieutenant Norman and Lieutenant Kuster met Officer Lehman in the hallway outside the room in which Ms. Ezell was being interrogated and told him that Ms. Ezell had admitted to having contraband with her. (32:13; 33:16-17). After their conversation in the hallway, Officer Lehman and the two Lieutenants entered the room and Officer Lehman asked Ms. Ezell if it was true that she had narcotics on her. (32:7). Ms. Ezell admitted that it was true. (32:7). Officer Lehman then asked additional questions about what type of

² K2 is synthetic cannabis.

contraband Ms. Ezell was carrying, to which she responded two pouches of K2. (32:7). At that point, Officer Lehman placed Ms. Ezell under arrest. (32:7). At no point did Officer Lehman advise Ms. Ezell of her *Miranda* rights. (32:14).

After placing Ms. Ezell under arrest, Officer Lehman placed her in his squad car and took her to Aurora Medical Center. (32:9). Officer Lehman waited in the hallway while medical staff removed contraband from Ms. Ezell's vagina. (32:9). Medical staff turned over to Officer Lehman a bag that contained six pouches. (32:10). Officer Lehman was expecting two rather than six pouches based on Ms. Ezell's earlier statements so he entered Ms. Ezell's room and confronted her with the inconsistency, pointing out that he saw she was lying. (32:10-11, 17). In response, Ms. Ezell admitted that the other four pouches contained marijuana. (32:11). Officer Lehman then further interrogated Ms. Ezell asking about the pouches and why she had them. (32:11). In response to Officer Lehman's questions, Ms. Ezell disclosed information about her boyfriend, Chaz Moseby, who was currently incarcerated at OCI, and admitted that she had smuggled contraband into OCI twice in the past. (32:12). At no point during this interaction, did Officer Lehman notify Ms. Ezell of her *Miranda* rights. (32:11-12, 18).

Before pleading no contest, Ms. Ezell filed a suppression motion in which she argued that all the statements she made to the prison officers and Officer Lehman should be suppressed because she was not properly notified of her *Miranda* rights before she was interrogated. (12; 15). She also argued that drugs recovered during the body cavity search should be suppressed as fruit of the officers' intentional *Miranda* violations. (15:15-16). The court found that Ms. Ezell was in custody at the hospital and

suppressed statements Ms. Ezell made to Officer Lehman there. The court did not suppress statements Ms. Ezell made at the prison and did not suppress the drugs that were recovered during the body cavity search. (34:10-11; App. 110-11). The court found that Ms. Ezell was not in custody when she was questioned at the prison. (34:9; App. 109). The court examined the factors set out in **State v. Torkelson**, 2007 WI App 272, ¶17, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511, and reasoned that Ms. Ezell voluntarily chose to go to the prison to visit her friend and therefore voluntarily entered the restrictive environment. (34:5-7; App. 105-07). The court recognized that she was taken to a separate room, separated from her companions and that no one ever told her she was free to leave the room, but ultimately decided Ms. Ezell was not in custody. (34:8-9; App. 108-09). The court reasoned as follows:

"The length of the interrogation in this case was brief. The degree of restraint; it doesn't appear she was handcuffed or escorted – physically escorted to that room. She was asked to accompany the officers to that room. As to various factors in regards to the degree of restraint, whether she was handcuffed, she was not. There were no weapons drawn. There was not a frisk performed. The manner in which she was restrained was a voluntary request to accompany. She was moved to a different location. The questioning did not take place in a vehicle. There were a number of correctional personnel present and ultimately law enforcement present.

(34:9; App. 109).

In this appeal, Ms. Ezell challenges the trial court's order denying suppression of her statements made at the prison and the drugs recovered during the body cavity search.

ARGUMENT

Ms. Ezell's Fifth Amendment Rights Were Violated when, After Arriving as a Visitor at the Prison, Prison Officers, and Later a Police Officer, Escorted Her Into a Room Inside the Prison, Confronted Her with Evidence Against Her, Questioned Her and Obtained a Confession from Her, Without First Informing Her of Her *Miranda* Rights.

A. Introduction, basic legal principles and standard of review.

Ms. Ezell's confession was the product of intentional *Miranda* violations.

Ms. Ezell was subject to custodial interrogation when prison officers separated her from her companions and escorted her through a secure door, which had to be opened remotely by another officer. When the door closed behind Ms. Ezell, it made an audible click, demonstrating to Ms. Ezell that she was locked inside the facility. After being led through the threshold, Ms. Ezell was escorted to a windowless, interior room inside the prison where three prison officers, two of whom remained standing, confronted her with evidence against her, questioned her regarding smuggling drugs into the prison and told her they had called the police. The officers, who never notified Ms. Ezell of her Miranda rights, were able to obtain a confession from Ms. Ezell. Police officer Lehman then arrived on the scene and, without first notifying Ms. Ezell of her Miranda rights, asked Ms. Ezell to confirm that she had smuggled drugs into the prison. Ms. Ezell confirmed.

All the statements Ms. Ezell made to the prison officers should be suppressed because she was not notified of her *Miranda* rights. Her confession to Officer Lehman should also be suppressed because it was the product of the illegal custodial interrogation conducted by the prison officers and because Officer Lehman never notified Ms. Ezell of her *Miranda* rights. The drugs recovered from the body cavity search that ensued should also be suppressed as they were fruit of the officers' intentional *Miranda* violations.

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Article I. Section 8 of Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution provide for a privilege against selfincrimination. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has observed, "[t]he essence of the fifth amendment privilege against self-incrimination is 'the requirement that the State which proposes to convict and punish an individual produce the evidence against him by the independent labor of its officers, not by the simple, cruel expedient of forcing it from his own lips." State v. Heffran, 129 Wis. 2d 156, 164, 384 N.W.2d 351 (1986) quoting Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 581-82 (1961).

To ensure that the tenets of the Fifth Amendment and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution are safeguarded, the Supreme Court has held that "the accused must be adequately and effectively apprised of his rights..." *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 467 (1966). Warnings prior to police interrogation are "indispensable to overcome its pressures and to insure that the individual knows he is free to exercise the [Fifth Amendment] privilege at that point in time." *Id.* at 469.

Miranda warnings, including telling an individual that she has the right to remain silent, any statements she makes

can be used against her, and she has the right to an attorney, are required "when an individual is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom by the authorities in any significant way and is subjected to questioning." *Id.* at 444, 478. And "[t]he prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination." *State v. Pounds*, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 320-21, 500 N.W.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1993) *quoting Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. In this case, Ms. Ezell made incriminating statements while she was in custody and interrogated by nonpolice actors and a police officer, who were required to, but failed to, notify Ms. Ezell of her *Miranda* rights. As a result, Ms. Ezell's statements should be suppressed.

Further, because officers intentionally failed to advise Ms. Ezell of her *Miranda* rights, physical evidence derived from the violation of her Fifth Amendment rights should also be suppressed. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899.

Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact. *Id.*, ¶19. In reviewing a question of constitutional fact, an appellate court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous but independently determines whether the facts meet constitutional standards. *Id.*

- B. Ms. Ezell was in custody and interrogated when prison officers escorted her into a room inside the prison, confronted her with evidence against her and questioned her.
 - 1. Ms. Ezell was in custody when prison officers escorted her into a room inside the prison.

The Supreme Court's holding in *Miranda* requires warnings to be given prior to custodial interrogation. Custodial interrogation is questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in a significant way. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. Thus, the threshold inquiry in this case is whether Ms. Ezell was in custody.

Miranda protections are required "as soon as a suspect's freedom is curtailed 'to the degree associated with formal arrest." Pounds, 176 Wis. 2d at 321 quoting Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 440 (1984). To determine if a person is in custody, courts look to "whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have considered himself or herself to be in custody, given the degree of restraint under the circumstances." Id. (Internal quotation omitted). Consideration must be given to the totality of the circumstances, including such factors as: "the suspect's freedom to leave; the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation, and the degree of restraint." Torkelson, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 17 citing **State v. Morgan**, 2002 WI App 124, ¶12, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23. A number of factors have been considered to evaluate the degree of restraint. Factors include "whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk was performed, the manner in which the suspect was restrained, whether the

suspect was moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." *Id*.

A reasonable person in Ms. Ezell's position would have believed she was in custody and not free to leave. While in the public lobby of OCI, Ms. Ezell was approached by two DOC Lieutenants dressed in full uniform complete with badges, official state patches, and handcuffs. After approaching Ms. Ezell, the Lieutenants asked Ms. Ezell to come with them and escorted her into the prison, separating her from her two companions. An officer remotely opened the prison door and Ms. Ezell went through, hearing an audible click as the door closed behind her. She was escorted down a hallway to an interior room. Three prison officers interrogated her, two of whom stood during the interrogation. They told her they had called the police. A reasonable person in Ms. Ezell's position would not have felt free to leave. Even if she got out of the room she was interrogated in, she would have been alone inside a prison, a situation most people would be frightened to be in, and she had no reason to believe she could exit the prison without assistance from the officer who controlled the lock for the door. Further, she had been told the police were coming, presumably to question or arrest her.

The purpose, place and length of the encounter and the degree of restraint also indicate that Ms. Ezell was in custody. The questioning took place inside OCI, a medium security prison, which exists solely for the purpose of confining people. Upon entering the interrogation room, Lieutenant Norman said he had been monitoring her calls with inmate Moseby and knew she had contraband with her to bring to him, making it immediately clear that the officers suspected Ms. Ezell had smuggled drugs into the prison and

that the purpose of the interrogation was to obtain a confession. (33:7). Ms. Ezell was restrained during the interrogation. She was not handcuffed or frisked and none of the officers drew their weapons, but she was moved from a public lobby where she had the ability to leave, to a room inside the prison. She was questioned by not one, but three prison officers and later by a police officer as well. She was told the police had been called and was never told she was free to leave. As far as she knew, there was no way for her to exit the prison without assistance from a prison officer. Officer Lehman also testified that when he arrived, Ms. Ezell "was still being detained." (Emphasis added) (32:16). Officer Lehman's testimony indicates the prison officers were holding Ms. Ezell until he arrived. If Officer Lehman believed Ms. Ezell was detained, surely Ms. Ezell, with no specialized legal or law enforcement training, would have felt she was in custody.

The fact that the interrogation took place inside a prison weighs in favor of a finding that Ms. Ezell was in custody. See State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 355, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999) (prison inmates considered in custody for Miranda purposes). Ms. Ezell's separation from her companions also indicates that she was in custody. The Supreme Court observed in *Miranda* that the presence of friends or family members can lend moral support to an individual when faced with the pressures of interrogation. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 449-50. The court noted that separation from family or friends is often a deliberate ploy used by officers to obtain a confession. *Id*. Cases since *Miranda* have considered whether the suspect was moved or separated from companions in deciding whether she was in custody. See U.S. v. Smith, 3 F.3d 1088, 1098 (7th Cir. 1993) (defendant's separation from his associates was one factor weighing in favor of a determination that he was in custody).

The fact that Ms. Ezell was separated from her companions and led to a separate area inside the prison weighs in favor of a finding that she was in custody.

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