RECEIVED

04-14-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP2178-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARIE A. EZELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DANIEL J. BISSETT, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

EILEEN W. PRAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009845

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2798 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) prayew@doj.state.wi.us

A. Introduction to argument.

Ezell contends that she was "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes when she was questioned by correctional officers at the Oshkosh Correctional Institution as to whether she was bringing drugs into the prison as a visitor. Ezell's brief at 10-13. Ezell admitted to the correctional officers that she had two balloons of K2 (synthetic marijuana) with her (33:8). Ezell further admitted that this was not the first time that she had brought drugs into the prison on visits and stated that she had brought two balloons on each of two previous visits (33:9). After Ezell made these admissions to the correctional officers, Officer Lehman of the Oshkosh Police Department arrived at the prison. He confirmed with Ezell the information she had told the correctional officers and placed Ezell under arrest (32:7).

Ezell claims that the statements she made at the correctional institution should have been suppressed, because neither the correctional officers nor Officer Lehman gave her *Miranda* warnings prior to her admission that she was bringing drugs into the prison as a visitor.¹ The

¹After arresting Ezell, Officer Lehman transported her to the Aurora Medical Center where medical staff removed the drugs from Ezell's vagina (32:9). The trial court suppressed Ezell's statements to Officer Lehman,

trial court determined that Ezell was not "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes when guestioned at the correctional institution. The State contends that Judge Bissett reached the correct conclusion. Ezell voluntarily entered the prison, knowing the restrictions that visiting a prison entails. The conditions of her questioning were not substantially more restrictive than those imposed on all visitors. Ezell was not frisked or restrained and none of the officers carried firearms (32:7; 33:9). Under the circumstances of her questioning the correctional institution. more fullv at described below, Ezell was not "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes.²

In addition to the admissions Ezell made to the correctional officers, Ezell claims that the physical evidence—the drugs retrieved from her vagina—should be suppressed. Ezell's brief at 18-21. Because the trial court did not suppress

which she made after arrest at the hospital (34:10). Thus, those statements are not part of this appeal.

²In the trial court, the State argued that the correctional officers were not state actors for Miranda purposes (16:6-8). On appeal, the State does not concede that the correctional officers were state actors. The correctional officers' purpose in questioning Ezell was to insure that Ezell was not introducing drugs into the prison. This is part of the officers' duty to protect the safety of the prisoners and visitors and promote the rehabilitation of the prisoners. See Wis. Admin. Code § DOC 306.18(1). Unlike the staff members in United States v. D.F., 115 F.3d 413 (7th Cir. 1997), the correctional officers had not been "enlisted or volunteered to act as law enforcement surrogates" or "saw themselves as an arm of law enforcement." Id. at 420. The correctional officers acted in furtherance of a correctional purpose separate from the ultimate criminal prosecution. However, this court need not reach this issue, because the record indicates that Ezell was not in custody during her questioning at the correctional institution.

Ezell's admissions to the correctional officers, the trial court did not address this issue. The State contends that, even if this court determines that Ezell's statements to the correctional officers should have been suppressed, the physical evidence of the drugs would be admissible under $Patane^3$ and $Knapp.^4$

Assuming—arguendo—that Miranda а violation occurred. the derivative physical evidence is not subject to exclusion, unless there is intentional violation or actual coercion. an Neither existed in this case. Ezell argues that "[i]t is unlikely that veteran correction officers . . . would be unaware that Miranda warnings were required in this situation." Ezell's brief at 20. However, Ezell can point to no case in Wisconsin or any other jurisdiction in which correctional officers were required to give a Miranda warning to a visitor entering a prison, who was suspected of transporting drugs into the prison. Here, the officers were acting in their routine duties as correctional officers to protect the security of the prison. See Wis. Admin. Code § DOC 309.06; see also State v. Higgins, 183 Ohio App. 3d 465, 917 N.E.2d 363 (2009) (visitor charged with bringing drugs into prison moved to suppress evidence of marijuana found on her person and statements made to law enforcement officers; court denied suppression).

³United States v. Patane, 542 U.S. 630 (2004).

 $^{^{4}}State\ v.\ Knapp,\ 2005$ WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899.

- B. Relevant legal principles and standard of review.
 - 1. "In custody" under *Miranda*.

Miranda warnings must be administered prior to the onset of custodial interrogation. *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, 541 U.S. 652, 661 (2004). *See also State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 351-52, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999) (*Miranda* warnings are procedural safeguards that protect suspect's Fifth Amendment rights).

A person is "in custody" for purposes of *Miranda* if the person is either formally arrested, or has suffered a restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest. *State v. Goetz*, 2001 WI App 294, ¶ 11, 249 Wis. 2d 380, 638 N.W.2d 386. *See also Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 440 (1984).

The test for *Miranda* custody is an objective one, determined from the perspective of a reasonable person in the suspect's position—not by the defendant's subjective experience. *State v. Torkelson*, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 13, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511. The objective test does not "place upon the police the burden of anticipating the frailties or idiosyncra[s]ies of every person whom they question." *McCarty*, 468 U.S. at 442 n.35 (quoted source omitted). Moreover, the custodial determination does not depend on the subjective views harbored by the interrogating officers. *State v. Mosher*, 221 Wis. 2d 203, 211, 584 N.W.2d 553 (Ct. App. 1998). Rather, the court must examine the totality of the circumstances to determine if the suspect was in custody, and there is no single fact or feature that is determinative. See, e.g., State v. Gruen, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 593, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998); State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 12, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23; State v. Schloegel, 2009 WI App 85, ¶ 7, 319 Wis. 2d 741, 769 N.W.2d 130.

The courts have identified numerous factors that should be considered in determining whether a suspect is in custody. *Torkelson*, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 17. The factors include "the suspect's freedom to leave, the purpose, place and length of the interrogation and the degree of restraint." *Mosher*, 221 Wis. 2d at 211. Within the degree-ofrestraint factor, various sub-factors also exist:

> [W]hether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the defendant was restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved.

Id.

The courts must determine whether the circumstances present a risk that police may coerce or trick captive suspects into confessing, or show that a suspect is subject to compelling pressures generated by the custodial setting itself. *Torkelson*, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 18. Nevertheless, the law is clear that it is not the mere number of factors added up on each side that dictate the custody determination. *Id.* Rather, the factors are reference points that help determine whether *Miranda* safeguards were necessary. *Id.*

2. Standards of review.

With respect to the question of *Miranda* custody, the trial court's findings of historical fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, but whether a person is in custody is a question of law, reviewed *de novo. Mosher*, 221 Wis. 2d at 211.

In reviewing *Miranda* standards, however, this court should also keep in mind the evils *Miranda*—namely, addressed by to prevent government officials from using the coercive nature of confinement to extract confessions that would not be given in an unrestrained environment-and then determine whether the officer's conduct and words implicate this purpose. State v. Hambly, 2008 WI 10, ¶ 48, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48.

- C. Ezell was not "in custody" when she admitted, while visiting the Oshkosh Correctional Institution, to bringing drugs into the institution.
 - 1. Factual background.

On October 13, 2012, Ezell voluntarily entered the Oshkosh Correctional Institution to visit an inmate. Correctional staff had received information that Ezell was bringing contraband into the institution to give to an inmate on a visit (33:4). Two correctional officers, Lieutenant Kuster and supervising officer Norman approached Ezell in the lobby. Correctional Officer Norman asked Ezell, "Ma'am, would you come and talk with us?" (33:5). The correctional officers did not have any authority to detain Ezell or to make her accompany them and made no statements suggesting they had the authority to detain Ezell (33:5-6). Visitors are informed in writing by a posted sign or notice that they need not agree to an inspection or search and that the alternative to such a search or inspection is leaving the institution. Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 306.18(6).

The correctional officers allowed Ezell to retain her possessions. She followed the officers through a door that locked so that persons from the visiting area could not get into the administrative office of areas the prison. However, the door allowed persons from the inside to get out at any time; it was not locked from the inside (33:6, 19-20). There was a buzzer on the door, which allowed the door to be opened from the inside when staff wished to enter the administrative areas (33:19). Ezell left her mother and another friend in the lobby to accompany the correctional officers (33:5). The officers requested Ezell to follow them to the conference room away from the waiting room to protect her privacy. The waiting room was a "family environment" in which children might be present and the discussion with Ezell might be embarrassing for her, since she had hidden drugs in her vagina (33:10).

The officers were wearing their correctional uniforms, which indicated that they were employees of the Wisconsin Department of Corrections—rather than police officers (33:20). Neither correctional officer was armed when they approached Ezell (33:5). At no time did the correctional officers handcuff Ezell (33:9). In fact, neither officer touched Ezell as they escorted her (33:13). The officers had handcuffs attached to a utility belt, but they were concealed in a pouch (33:13-14). The correctional officers did not frisk Ezell or search her belongings (33:9).

The conference which the room in correctional officers questioned Ezell was twenty to twenty-five feet from the waiting room (33:11). The conference room had a table displaying crafts that the inmates had made and some chairs set up against one wall (33:7). There were three correctional officers in the conference room. Ezell and Officer Norman were seated. Lieutenant Kuster was standing on the opposite wall (33:14-15). The third correctional officer was a woman line staff from the visiting area-Officer Todd (33:6-7). Officer Todd was standing at the back of the room (33:14). The door to the conference room was closed, but not locked. During the interview, Lieutenant Kuster was going in and out of the room (33:16).

In the conference room, Officer Norman, who was seated, explained that he had been monitoring phone calls between Ezell and an inmate. He indicated that he knew from those calls that Ezell had "contraband with her to bring to Inmate Moseby on her visit that day" (33:7). Officer Norman also told Ezell that he had contacted the police and an officer was coming to the correctional institution (33:8). After initially denying that she had anything on her person, Ezell admitted that she had two balloons of K2 (33:8). Ezell further admitted that she had brought drugs into the prison on previous visits (33:9-10). After Ezell had made those admissions to the correctional officers, Officer Lehman of the Oshkosh Police Department arrived. Per prison policy, Officer Lehman did not have his gun with him and had locked it in his squad car. Officer Lehman told Ezell that correctional staff had informed him that she had drugs on her person. Ezell confirmed that she had two balloons of K2 hidden in her vagina. Officer Lehman placed Ezell under arrest (32:7).

2. Ezell was not "in custody."

Ezell voluntarily submitted herself to the restrictions inherent in visiting a prison. As Judge Bissett noted in determining that Ezell had not been "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes:

In this case, the defendant was at the prison voluntarily. She was there presumably to visit somebody in the prison system so she made a voluntary decision to go to a structured, restrictive facility. She wasn't forced to go to that structured, restrictive facility. There are certain restraints that are placed upon people who go to those facilities. Whether they be lawyers there to visit clients, whether they be individuals there to visit, they are subject to going through a metal detector, having their purses and property searched. They are generally escorted around the facility for their protection but also to observe them. When they meet with people, they're brought into certain areas where they're free to leave but somebody has to push a button or unlock a door. The doors aren't open for obvious reasons when they're in that facility. I think it's somewhat analogous to people who make a decision to go on an airplane. They go through a metal detector, they have certain portions of their freedom constrained because they've voluntarily elected to participate in that activity. In this case, she voluntarily elected to participate in going to the prison system to see somebody in the prison system.

(34:7.)

Ezell argues that it was significant that she went through a locked door, which made an "audible click as the door closed behind her." Ezell's brief at 11. Ezell contends that a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave the conference room, because after she left the unlocked conference room she "had no reason to believe she could exit the prison without assistance from the officer who controlled the lock for the door." Ezell's brief at 11.

First, Officer Norman testified that persons in the administrative offices could get out into the lobby at any time without aid, because the door was not locked from the inside (33:6, 19-20). However, even if a reasonable person in Ezell's situation would have believed she needed the assistance of a staff member to open the door, that is no different from the situation any visitor to the prison faces. Ezell had visited the prison in the past (33:9-10). Presumably, on other visits she went through locked doors and needed staff assistance to return to the lobby to leave, and was permitted to do so.

In a recent United States Supreme Court case, the Court determined that an inmate confined in prison was not *per se* "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes. Simply because the inmate's movements were restricted does not mean that the inmate would not feel free to leave the interrogation and return to his cell—the inmate's usual environment. *Howes v. Fields*, ____ U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 1181, 1193 (2012).

Because he was in prison, respondent was not free to leave the conference room by himself and to make his own way through the facility to his cell. Instead, he was escorted to the conference room and, when he ultimately decided to end the interview, he had to wait about 20 minutes for a corrections officer to arrive and escort him to his cell. But he would have been subject to this same restraint even if he had been taken to the conference room for some reason other than police questioning; under no circumstances could he have reasonably expected to be able to roam free.

Id. Under these circumstances, the Supreme Court determined that the restrictions did not coerce the inmate in cooperating. The Court concluded that the inmate was not "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes. *Id.* at 1194.

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